IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



f.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLA. BAR NO. 267082 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The symbol (R) will refer to the record on appeal in the instant case; (SR) will refer to the supplemental record on appeal.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY J. PONTICELLI,

Defendant/Appellant,)

vs.

CASE NO. 73,064

STATE **OF** FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 4, 1988, the grand jury in and for Marion County returned an indictment charging Appellant, ANTHONY JOHN PONTICELLI, with two counts of first degree murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (1987) and one count of robbery with a deadly weapon in violation of Sections 812.13(1) and (2)(a), Florida Statutes (1987). (R1375-2376) Defense counsel filed a Motion for Psychiatric Examination for the purposes of determining Appellant's competence to stand trial and his sanity at the time of the offense. (R1413-1415) The motion was granted and Doctors Rodney Poetter, Harry Krop and Robin Mills were appointed to examine Appellant. (R1426-1427) Following a hearing on August 2, 1988, Judge McNeal determined Appellant was competent to stand trial. (R1217)

On July 25, 1988, Appellant filed **a** Notice of Intent to Rely on an Insanity Defense at trial. (R1424-1425) The nature

- 1 -

of the insanity sought to be proved was acute cocaine usage.

(R1424) Appellant filed two motions to suppress his statements made to Dennis Freeman (R1448-1551) and to Investigator Munster. (R1469-1477) Both motions were denied following an evidentiary hearing. (R1292,1232-1233) Prior to trial, Judge McNeal ruled that defense counsel could not question the jury venire concerning their reactions to a recent celebrated murder trial which resulted in a not guilty by reason of insanity verdict. (R1236,7-8)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on the charges on August 9-12, 1988 with the Honorable Raymond T. McNeal, Circuit Judge presiding. (R1-1156) The state, over defense objection, introduced Appellant's taped statements into evidence. (R789-790) However, after the first tape was begun, Judge McNeal reversed his ruling and suppressed the first taped statement. (R804) Appellant unsuccessfully moved for a mistrial. (R804-805) The three subsequent taped statements were then entered into evidence over defense objection. (R804,815,831,839) At the close of the state's case-in-chief, Judge McNeal granted a judgment of acquittal **as** to the robbery charge but permitted the two murder charges to stand. (R941)

After the state rested, the defense sought to present the testimony of Dr. Mark Branch to explain the affect of cocaine psychosis. (R971-993) However, Judge McNeal sustained the state's objection and refused to allow Dr. Branch to testify. (R993) Fallowing deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged of two counts of first degree murder. (R1151-1152,1512-1515)

- 2 -

On August 18, 1988, the jury reconvened for the penalty phase. (R1309-1374) Following deliberations, the jury recommended by votes of 9-3 that Appellant be sentenced to death for both murders. (R1373,1741,1742)

On August 22, 1988, Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial. (R1743-1818) Judge McNeal denied this motion. (R1158) On September 6, 1988, Appellant again appeared before Judge McNeal for sentencing. (R1159-1173) Judge McNeal adjudicated Appellant guilty of both murders and imposed the death penalty for each. (R1172-1173,1847-1851) Judge McNeal filed written findings of fact in support of the imposition of the death penalty. (R1833-1837)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on September 6, 1988. (R1860) Appellant was adjudged in solvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R1865,1881-1882)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Keith Dotson lived in Silver Springs Shores in Marion County with his mother. (R510) During Thanksgiving 1988, Dotson's cousins, Ed and Warren Brown, and their friend Brian Burgess came to visit Dotson. (R465,510,534,556) On the afternoon of November 27, 1987, the day after Thanksgiving, Dotson and his friends were at the Kwik King store where Dotson first met Appellant. (R512) Since Appellant seemed nice, Dotson invited him to come by his house that evening where Dotson and his friends planned to watch video cassettes which they had rented. (R512) At approximately 6:30 - 7:00 p.m. that evening Appellant arrived at Dotson's house. (R512,536,556,469) Appellant stayed for approximately thirty - forty-five minutes during which time the group sat around and talked about the movie which they were watching. (R513,470,536,558) Later Appellant returned to Dotson's house in a car. (R514,558) Appellant went in the house and told Ed Brown and Brian Burgess that there were two people in the car who he was planning to kill. (R474,537) Appellant showed the boys a gun which he had and told them that he planned to kill the people for money and cocaine. (R474,537) Appellant also told them that he would need a ride back to his house, which Ed Brown agreed to give him. (R474,537) Appellant asked Brown for the phone number so he could call them and then he left. (R475,539) The boys did not really believe that Appellant was serious about what he had said. (R475,539) Nevertheless Brown asked Dotson if he had a gun and Keith replied yes. (R476,516,539) Ed told Keith to load it and to bring it to him just in case

- 4 -

Appellant returned. (R476,516,539) Brown got the shot-gun and kept it by the couch. (R476) Although the phone rang several times the boys did not answer the phone on purpose. (R476,517,539) At approximately 11:30 p.m. Appellant returned to Dotson's house in a taxi cab. (R540,560) When he arrived Appellant told the boys that he had killed the two people for cocaine and \$2,000. (R517,542,477) Appellant asked if he could wash his clothes because there was blood on them. (R478) Dotson agreed to wash the clothes and lent Appellant some sweat pants and a shirt. (R479,517,561) Appellant asked Ed Brown if he thought that after shooting someone in the head whether that person would live. Brown told him that he thought chances were slim and told (R479) Appellant that he did not think he had any worries about it. (R479) Appellant however was quite worried because he said he had heard moaning. (R479,563,541) While waiting for his clothes to be washed, Appellant called his mother and told her he was with some friends and would be home in approximately thirty minutes. (R480,540,562) After his clothes were finished, Appellant asked Brown for a ride home which he gave him. (R544,564) The boys never called the police. (R482,521,565) On the next day Ed, Warren, and Brian went home to West Virginia. (R482,521,565) While packing the car, Ed Brown found a pair of shoes with blood on them behind the back seat of the car. (R483) On the way to West Virginia, Brown threw the shoes out on the side of a county road. (R484)

On the following day Appellant returned to Keith's house after his cousins had left. (R522) Appellant arrived in a

- 5 -

red Camaro accompanied by John Turner. (R522) Appellant said he was going to use the money he had gotten from the people he had killed to fix the car up and to use it **as** a getaway. (R523) Appellant asked Keith if he had told anyone and Keith said no. (R523) Appellant stayed approximately thirty minutes and then left. (R523) A short while later Appellant again arrived at Keith's house. (R524) This time Appellant was in a blue car but again was accompanied by John Turner. (R524) Appellant again asked Keith if he had told anyone and Keith again told Appellant no. (R524) Because Keith wanted Appellant to leave, he told him that he had to go to Orlando and pick his mother up at the airport. (R524)

Timothy Keesee lived with Ralph and Nick Grandinetti. (R411) Keesee also knew Appellant who used to come by their trailer to purchase cocaine. (R415) The Grandinettis allowed Appellant to purchase cocaine on credit. (R415) Keesee spent Thanksqiving 1987 in Tallahassee and returned home the day after with his younger brother who was in the Navy. (R415-416) Keesee got home about 7:30 p.m. and when he arrived Appellant was at the house with both Ralph and Nick. (R416) The three were discussing the money that Appellant owed the Grandinettis for cocaine they had given him. (R416) The Grandinettis were wondering how Appellant was going to pay them and Appellant told them he would sell whatever cocaine they had. (R417) Ralph had about five grams of cocaine packaged individually. (R418) There was also a wad of money on the table although Keesee does not know how much it contained. (R418) Since it was in front of Ralph, Keesee

- 6 -

assumed the money was his. (R418) Appellant told the Grandinettis that he could make a couple of phone calls and if they could take him to sell what they had Appellant would settle up with them. (R418) The discussion involved mainly Appellant and Ralph Grandinetti. (R419) Appellant made two phone calls but got no answer to either one. (R419) Ralph seemed a bit anxious to get his money or to take Appellant home. (R419) Keesee had invited the Grandinettis to go with him and hi5 brother to a bar. (R419)Ralph said that they would take Appellant home. (R419) However Appellant requested that he be allowed to finish his phone calls so that they could settle up that night. (R419) Keesee and his brother went to a couple of bars and returned home about 10:00 (R421) The Grandinettis were not at home which surprised p.m. Keesee since Nick usually stayed at home. (R421) Keesee thought that perhaps they had gone looking for him and his brother so he waited expecting the Grandinettis to call. (R421) The Grandinettis' sister came by that evening. (R422) However Nick and Ralph never came home that night. (R422) On Saturday morning Keesee got up about 7:00 a.m. and took his brother to the airport in Orlando. (R422) Keesee returned from Orlando around noon. (R422) About an hour later Detective Munster came by and asked Keesee if he had seen Nick and Ralph. (R422) Keesee told the Detective that although they lived there he had not seen them since the night before. (R423) Detective Munster asked Keesee who the Grandinettis had been with the night before and Keesee told him about Appellant and where Appellant lived. (R423)Detective Munster then showed Keesee pictures of Ralph and Nick

- 7 -

and told him that they were dead. (R424) Keesee was aware that Ralph was a cocaine dealer. (R426) In the four weeks that Keesee lived with the Grandinettis, Appellant came by at least fifteen to twenty times and bought large amounts of cocaine from Ralph. (R426) Sometimes Appellant would come by two or three times **a** day to purchase cocaine. (R427)

On Saturday November 28, 1987 Ellzey Harrington found a car behind his house in Silver Springs. (R304) Harrington first saw the car around 8:00 a.m. (R306) It appeared as if the driver had had a flat tire since the tire was off the front. (R306) Later after Barrington thought that someone should have been there to get the car, he went down to look at it. (R306)Harrington and his neighbor approached the car and Harrington observed a foot in the passenger window. (R309) As he approached closer Harrington saw blood all over and saw a person head down on the floor on the car. (R309) The man appeared to be badly (R310) In the back seat appeared to be a dead man. hurt. (R310) Harrington could hear the man in the front seat gasping for air and observed him kicking his foot. (R310) The back of the man's head was matted with blood and blood was spattered all over the car. (R310) Harrington observed a pair of glasses and a driver's license on the seat of the car. (R310) Harrington opened the door so that the man in the front seat could get his feet down and perhaps breath a little more normally. (R312) The man said nothing but just groaned. (R313) About ten to fifteen minutes later an ambulance arrived. (R313) When the paramedics arrived they stabilized the person who was in the front seat and

- 8 -

took him to the hospital. (R336-337,346-347) The person in the back seat was already dead. (R344)

On November 29, 1987 Doctor Tamera Sanderson performed an autopsy on Ralph Grandinetti. (R363) The victim had multiple abrasions on his face over his forehead which were superficial. (R367) There were marks under his chin which were consistent with fingernail gouges. (R367) There was \mathbf{a} bullet wound to the left side of the head just above the left ear which extended through the skull line and through the brain. (R368) The wound was a close contact wound which indicated that the gun was placed very close to the head. (R369) The bullet entered through the scalp producing a large amount of hemorrhaging underneath the scalp on top of the bone. (R369) The bullet went through the skull and brain through the inner portion of the skull on the right side of the head. (R369) The bullet exited to the outer portion of the skull but stopped just beneath the skin, there was no exit wound. The cause of death was massive trauma, (R369) lacerations and bleeding and shattering of the brain substance caused by a gunshot wound to the head, (R374) Doctor Sanderson opined that death occurred within one to two minutes. (R374)

Nick Grandinetti survived until December 12, 1987. (R385) On that date Doctor Nicholas Maruniak performed an autopsy. (R385) Nick Grandinetti suffered two gunshot wounds to the back of his head. (R386) There were bruises around the back of his head and on the side of his head. (R386) The skin on the right ear was peeling and red and covered with a creamy substance. This was consistent with hot pressure placed on the

- 9 -

ear for an extended period of time. (R388) Doctor Maruniak discovered two small bullet holes in the back of the head which he determined to be entrance wounds. (R390) There wasruising on the back of the head which indicated that the victim had bled internally. (R390) Doctor Maruniak discovered bruising which was consistent with blunt trauma to the head. (R392) There had been a bolt inserted in the victim's head to drain the pressure. (R393) The victim was not in pain because he had been in a coma. The bullets had entered the back of the head on either (R394) side of the midline, coursed through the posterior lobe to the brain with one ending up in the front of the brain and the other in the lower frontal part of the brain, (R394) There were no exit wounds. (R394) The cause of death was cardiac arrest which was secondary to the gunshot wounds. (R398) Either bullet would have caused death. (R399) Although the victim probably experienced pain until he became comatose, Doctor Maruniak could not say within a medical certainty that he had suffered pain. (R399 - 400)

Joseph Leonard was one of Appellant's best friends. (R606) In November of **1987**, Leonard gave Appellant a gun in return for a tattoo that Appellant had purchased for Leonard. (R608) On Friday November 27, **1987** Appellant called Leonard and asked if he would be able to give him a ride around 8:30 p.m. that night. (R610) Appellant said he was with Nick Grandinetti whom Leonard also knew. (R611) Leonard had agreed to give Appellant a ride. (R611) At around 9:30 p.m. Appellant came to Leonard's house and returned the gun to him. (R611) At that

- 10 -

time Appellant told Leonard that he "did Nick" which Leonard understood to mean that he had shot and killed Nick Grandinetti. Joey Leonard's roommate, Bobby Mead, was present when (R612) Appellant told Joey about killing Nick. (R574-575) Appellant also wanted to know what he should do with the bodies, although neither Mead nor Leonard ever saw any bodies. (R577) Appellant gave the gun to Leonard and left. (R614) Leonard put the gun in a stereo cabinet. (R614) Early the following day Appellant walked over to Leonard's house. (R615) Appellant and Leonard took a walk on a golf course during which Appellant told Leonard the details of what had happened. (R616) Appellant told Leonard that the Grandinettis had been harassing him about money that he owed them and were not going to let him leave their house until they got the money from him. (R617) They had all left in a car and Appellant directed them around the back roads trying to sell the cocaine. (R618) Appellant said he shot them both in the head. (R619) After doing this Appellant had stopped at Leonard's house and gave him the gun. (R619-620) After leaving Leonard's house Appellant had a flat tire so he took the bodies and left (R620-621) Appellant then said he took a taxi cab home. them. (R621)

William Tressam works as a driver for Ocala Taxi Company. (R450) On the evening of November 27, 1987 he was dispatched at 11:15 p.m. to the Cloister Court Motel in Silver Springs. (R451) When he arrived a male walked from the shadows into his cab and got in the back seat. (R452) The person asked to go to Silver Springs Shore and Tressam told him it would cost

- 11 -

\$12.00. (R453) The person gave Tressam \$15.00 and asked if it would cover it. (R453) The man said he had been to the ABC lounge with some friends and was trying to hitchhike back to the Shores when he decided that he wouldn't get a ride so he called a (R455 He said he wanted to leave the lounge but his cab. friends did not so he left by himself. (R455) When Tressam asked the man for an address where he wanted to go the man could not give him an address but said he would show him where to go. (R455) Tressam dropped off the man at a residence. (R456) Later when Tressam was contacted by Detective Munster, Tressam was able to take him out to the place where he had dropped off the man but found that it was a vacant house. (R457) Tressam cannot say that his fare was Appellant. (R458)

Ronald Balsey is an acquaintance of John Turner (R639) On the Sunday after Thanksgiving John Turner came to his house with another individual. (R641) This other individual was Appellant. (R640) John came into the house and asked Halsey if they could burn some trash out behind the house and Halsey (R641) Both Appellant and Turner came in the house sat agreed. down and talked about a football game. (R642) Appellant appeared nervous and after the conversation Turner said they were going to burn the trash. (R642) When Halsey went back to check on the fire he saw a dark coat on top of the fire. (R643) Halsey was surprised that they were burning clothes and asked about it. (R644) Appellant broke down and told Halsey that he had shot two (R644) Appellant told Halsey that he had owed one of the men. men money for cocaine. (R645) Appellant said that the two men

- 12 -

roughed him up threw him in the back of the car and started driving. (R645) When they came to a stop Appellant shot each of the men in the back of the head. (R645) After Appellant shot them he took the driver out and put him in the back seat. (R646) The passenger was still moving so Appellant said he hit him a couple of times in the face with the butt of the qun. (R646)Appellant had intended on driving out of the state but got a flat tire so Appellant parked the car took several grams of cocaine and **\$900.00** from the men. (R646) Appellant said that he and Turner had smoked all of the cocaine and Appellant had spent the money on crack cocaine. (R647-648) Halsey advised Appellant not to leave the state. (R648) It appeared that Appellant burned a pair of blue jeans. (R648) Appellant said that they would never find the shoes because they were heading to West Virginia. (R648) Appellant and Turner stayed twenty minutes and then left after which Halsey never saw Appellant again. (R649-650) Halsey next saw John Turner approximately three weeks later when he came to the house with Detective Munster. (R650) The evidence technician came and collected the evidence which consisted of the partially-burned clothing. (R651)

Dennis Freeman, an inmate in the Marion County jail for the previous twenty months testified that in December of 1987 he met Appellant who was housed in the same cell. (R713,716) A few days after Appellant came into the cell, he began to speak with Freeman about his case. (R719-720) Freeman advised Appellant not to talk about his case but this advice went unheeded. (R720) Appellant said that he was arrested because he gave inconsistent

- 13 -

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