SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY JOHN PONTICELLI,

Appellant,

vs .

CASE NO. 73,064

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CLERY, Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID S. MORGAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL Bar #651265
125 N. Ridgewood Avenue
Fourth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32014
(904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The defendant **offers** three other cases in addressing "(a)nother example of patent inconsistency ... in the subjective view of what additional facts separate a murder from the norm" (B 70). The argument suggests that the finding or rejection of the

aggravating factor in each case resulted from a focus solely upon the fact that the murder had occurred in the home of the victim(s). In Troedel v. State, 462 So.2d 392, 397-398 Fla. 1984), the factor was upheld not only because the murder had taken place in the victims' home, but also because one victim had been deliberately tormented by being shot in the legs before Nor did the location of the murder in and of being killed. itself justify the aggravation finding in Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982). Although the victim died from a single stab wound, the murder had been committed during a burglary and while the victim was asleep in his bed. The victim did not die immediately and suffered considerable pain. Adv. 9. The third case, Simmons v. State, 419 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1982), is not at odds with the other two cases despite its holding that the fact that the victim had been murdered in his home did not support the finding of an aggravating circumstance. There was no evidence that the victim knew he was about to be attacked. Further, his death was most likely instantaneous. Id., 319. Simmons, unlike the other two, did not involve aggravation by facts independent of the location of the murder in the home of the victim(s). short, the defense argument fails to establish an "inconsistent, arbitrary and capricious application of this aggravating circumstance" (B 70),

COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED

The general constitutional principles discussed above apply to \$921.141(5)(i) as well. A federal appellate court has reviewed this aggravating factor specifically and held in relevant part:

While most capital murders require premeditation, the Florida courts have construed $\S921.141(5)(i)$ to require a greater degree premeditation and cold-bloodedness than is required to obtain a first degree murder conviction. Brown v. State, 473 So.2d 1260, 1268 (Fla.) ("[cold, calculated] factor places a limitation on the premeditation of as aggravating circumstance in absence of some quality setting the crime apart from mere ordinarily premeditated murder"), cer<u>t</u>. , 106 S.Ct. U.S. denied, 607, 88 L.Ed.2d 585 (1985). Given limiting construction, $\S921.141(5)(i)$ is a facially valid aggravating circumstance because it genuinely narrows the class of persons eligible for the death penalty. Harich v. Wainwright, 813 F.2d 1082, 1102 (11th Cir. 1987), <u>adopted in, Harich v. Dugger</u>, 844 F.2d 1464, 1468-1469 (11th Cir. 1988).

The defense claims that this court has been inconsistent in its interpretation of §921.141(5)(i). The argument presents a dichotomy, $\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac$

The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated <u>manner</u> without any pretense of moral or legal justification. §921.141, Fla. Stat. (1987) (emphasis added).

The proper terms for a comparative analysis were provided in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, **465** So.2d 499 (Fla. 1985), <u>cert. denied</u>, 474 U.S. **865**, 106 S.Ct. 186, 88 L.Ed.2d 154 (1985):

The finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, without pretense of moral or legal justification was also supported by the evidence. This factor focuses more on the perpetrator's state of mind than on 'the' method of killing. Id., 507 (emphasis added).

Hence, the "manner" includes both "state of mind" and the "method of killing" considerations. Caruthers v. State, 465 So.2d 2d 496 (Fla. 1985), which held that this "factor applies to a manner of killing characterized by a heightened premeditation beyond that required to establish premeditated murder", is not contrary to Johnson because a premeditation analysis requires the consideration of both the perpetrator's state of mind and the method of killing:

Premeditation can be shown by circumstantial evidence
Premeditation is, a fully-formed conscious purpose to kill, which exists in the mind of the perpetrator for a sufficient length of time to permit of reflection, and in pursuance of which an act of killing ensues.

State, 497 So 2d 1177, 1181 (emphasis added) (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1024, 107 S.Ct. 1912, 95 L.Ed.2d 517 (1986).

Although other dicta in Provenzano appear to use "manner" in lieu of "method of killing", the analysis applied by the court is consistent with the state's position asserted here. None of the cited cases suggests that either the perpetrator's state of mind or the method of killing represents the sole appropriate means of analysis to the exclusion of the other. On the contrary, the

cases all suggest that both should be considered, or at **least** that neither should be excluded from consideration, in determining whether a murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner.

The defense contends "there is a patent inconsistency in application of the second prang of the cold calculated or premeditated, [sic] without any pretense of moral or legal justification factor" (B 71, emphasis in initial brief). passage from Banda v. State, 536 So.2d 221, 225 (Fla. 1982), is quoted by which the defense implies, through the emphasis of "any", that any claim of justification or excuse is sufficient to preclude a court from finding this aggravating circumstance (B 71). However, the passage, in relevant part, provides preclusion only for "... any claim ., that ... rebuts the otherwise cold and calculating nature of the homicide." Id. (emphasis added). Furthermore, if the construction urged by the defense were to be accepted any murderer could avoid this aggravating factor simply raising a frivolous claim of justification or excuse. Inconsistency is not established by the other cited cases either. The differing holdings in Cannady v. State, 427 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1983); Provenzano, supra; and Turner v. State, 530 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1988), resulted simply from the different underlying factual situations. There is a fundamental flaw in the defense argument:

In short, [Ponticelli's] attempts to compare **cases** which share some, but not many, characteristics is unpersuasive. Qualitatively ranking murders is, to be sure, an imprecise business. Harich, supra, 1103.

Incredibly, the defense also claims "[t]his court itself has recognized the inconsistency and arbitrariness of its application of this aggravating circumstance" (B 72). The basis for this contention is that Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987) disapproved the application of (5)(i) as was done in Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1984). First of all, this court receded to the limited extent it did based upon a substantive analysis of §921.141(5)(i), not because it found unconstitutional arbitrariness in its prior applications of the statute. we conclude that 'calculation' consists of a careful plan or prearranged design, we recede from our holding in Herring ... to the extent it dealt with this question." Rogers, 533. one were to accept the defense's strained interpretation of the effect of Rogers, it is not suggested that the perceived constitutional infirmity still exists or that the decision below was affected by Herring. The intervening Rogers decision no doubt corrected any problem of constitutional dimensions which may have been created by Herring.

POINT ELEVEN

THE TRIAL COURT GAVE ADEQUATE CONSIDERATION TO MITIGATING FACTORS.

The sentencing order contains a protracted analysis of mitigating circumstances (R 1835-1837). The defense complains that "it is unclear whether the trial court found this factor [i.e., lack of significant criminal history] as a mitigating factor (B 76). In <u>Brown v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 1260 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1038, 106 S.Ct. 607, 88 L.Ed.2d 585 (1985), this court held:

That the court's findings of fact specifically not address appellant's evidence and arguments not mean they were not considered. The trial court obviously rejected appellant's showing as having no valid mitigating weight. Id., 1268; see also, Tompkins v. State, 502 So.2d 415, 421 (Fla. 1986), den<u>ied</u>, U.S. , 107 S.Ct. 3277, 97 L.Ed.2d 781 (1986); Johnson v. Wainwright, 778 F.2d 623, 629 (11th Cir. 1985), cert., U.S. , 108 S.Ct. denied, 210, 98 L.Ed.2d 152 (1987).

Further, a trial judge is not obligated to find mitigating factors. Suarez v. State, 481 So.2d 1201, 1210, citation omitted (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, ______ U.S. _____, 106 S.Ct. 2908, 90 L.Ed.2d 994 (1986). The defense draws a spurious distinction between this case and Quince v. State, 414 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 895, 103 S.Ct. 192, 74 L.Ed.2d 155 (1982), in claiming its challenge is aimed at the court's evaluation of the mitigating factors rather than the weight afforded them (B

75). Nonetheless, "[m]ere disagreement with the force to be given [mitigating circumstances] is an insufficient basis for challenging a sentence." <u>Echols v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568, 575 (Fla. 1985), <u>cert. denied</u>, 479 U.S. 871, 107 S.Ct. 241, 93 L.Ed.2d 166 (1987), <u>citing</u>, <u>Quince</u>.

The defense also assigns error because the trial court allegedly refused to consider unrebutted testimony by Dr. Mills (B 78). While the testimony went unrebutted during the penalty phase, it was controverted by the evidence presented by other experts earlier in the proceedings. The court obviously did consider the doctor's testimony, but nonetheless rejected it (R 1835-1836). The court accurately concluded that the testimony was "mere speculation" (R 1835).

The last issue raised by the defense is the trial court's reference to the "M' Naghten criteria" (B 78; R 1836). Refer to Point Seven, <u>supra</u>, for a detailed analysis of this issue. Stated succinctly, there are a number of considerations common to both the elements of not guilty by reason of insanity and the mitigating factors under §921.141(6)(b) and (f).

POINT TWELVE

THE FLORIDA CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED.

The general allegations have already been addressed under Point Ten, supra. Stated simply, the Florida capital sentencing statute is constitutional both its on face and in application. It provides a process which narrows the class of death eligible murderers. It also provides for the consideration of mitigating circumstances and for the exercise of discretion at sentencing. Further, in this case there was no pretrial motion filed challenging the constitutionality of the statute. Nor was this argument advanced at any time during the proceedings below. As а result, any arguments directed at the unconstitutional application of the statute are procedurally barred. Again, if this court so finds, a plain statement to that effect should be included in the opinion. The following argument will respond to the additional arguments made.

The defense concedes that the boilerplate list of challenges has been repeatedly rejected. This point is repeated virtually word-for-word in every death penalty case; See, e.g., Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984), in which these "grab bag" claims were rejected. Id., 894-895. However, unlike some other cases, in addition to being meritless, most of the defendant's claims were never raised in the trial court, and thus are not preserved for review. See, e.g., Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984).

The constitution does not require a state to adopt specific standards for instructing the jury in its consideration of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 103 S.Ct. 2733, 77 L.Ed.2d 235 (1983); Ford v. Strickland, 696 F.2d 804 (11th Cir. 1983); Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582 (5th Cir. 1978). As the court in Spinkellink recognized, Florida has provided that aggravated circumstances must be found beyond a reasonable doubt. However, those in mitigation need not rise to that level. Further, since no objection to the instructions below was voiced, the issue is procedurally barred from review. Adams, supra.

Ponticelli's "vague and inconsistent" application argument is barred as well. <u>D'Oleo-Valdez</u>, <u>supra</u>. As pointed out earlier, the United States Supreme Court rejected just such an argument in Proffitt v. Florida.

The claim that there was an error under <u>Lockett v. Ohio</u>, 438 U.S. 586, is also barred because no objection was voiced. Assuming, <u>arquendo</u>, that the issue is not barred, it is nonetheless without merit. Individualized sentencing determinations are provided for and were made below. Any doubt regarding that can be resolved by referring to the judgment and sentence (R 1833-1837).

Ponticelli's fourth constitutional challenge relates to the fact that the statute failed to provide him with notice of the aggravating circumstances which could be found. No such notice is required as the statute itself is sufficient on this score.

See, e.g., Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981); Preston v.

State, 444 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1984). A similar claim was rejected in Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582, 609 (5th Cir. 1978).

The punishment of death by electrocution as provided under Florida's death penalty statute is neither cruel nor unusual punishment. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982); Proffitt, supra, S.Ct. at 2964; Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 2922-2932, 49 L.Ed.2d 859 (1976).

Defense counsel below failed to argue that the sentence was improper because the sentencing recommendation is not required under the statute to be rendered by a unamimous or substantial number of the jurors. As a result it is barred here. Further, Ponticelli lacks standing to raise this issue because he was not adversely affected by this part of the statute because a substantial majority of the jurors, nine to three against, recommended the death penalty (R 1372). State v. Hagan, 387 So.2d 943, 945 (Fla. 1980); Sandstrom v. Leader, 370 So.2d 3, 4 (Fla. 1979). Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984), held that there is not even a "...constitutional imperative that a jury have the responsibility of deciding whether the death penalty should be imposed." S.Ct. at 3165.

The defense did not object to the "death qualification" of the jurors below, thereby waiving assignment of error. Even if it had, such a jury is constitutionally sound. Lockhart v. McCree, 476 U.S. 162, 106 S.Ct. 1758, 1765, 90 L.Ed.2d 137 (1986).

The defense contends that the "Ellege Rule", Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977), would be unconstitutional "if interpreted to automatically hold as harmless error any improperly found aggravating factor in the absence of a finding by the trial court of a mitigating factor" (B 82). The defense simply does not show that the case is to be so interpreted in the instant case. Cf., Hamblen, supra.

The defense lacks standing to argue that §921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (1987), results in an automatic death sentence in felony murder cases. This is not a felony murder case, and, as a result, Ponticelli is not adversely affected by this portion of the statute. Further, a similar claim was rejected in Lowenfield, supra, S.Ct. at 554.

The defense argues that "a disturbing trend" is apparent in the review of capital cases by this court (B 82). This sweeping conclusion is based upon "two cases" which allegedly "clearly demonstrate" that "the death penalty as applied in Florida leads to inconsistent and capricious results" (B 83-84). A more substantial sample of cases is required to support such a claim. More fundamentally the issue is prematurely raised as this court has not addressed this case yet. There simply is no issue in controversy on this point at this time.

The last constitutional issue raised is procedurally barred and the defendant lacks standing. No objection was voiced that the statute as applied had a prejudicial effect upon the defendant because of his race. Such an objection would have been absurd as Ponticelli and his two victims, the Grandinetti

brothers, are all caucausians (R 1377; 1382). As he cannot show prejudicial impact, he lacks standing to raise this issue. Also, this claim, like the others, has been previously rejected. Cf., Stewart v. Dugger, 847 F.2d 1486, 1495 (11th Cir. 1988), citing, McCleskey v. Kemp, U.S. ____, 107 S.Ct. 1756, 95 L.Ed. 2d 262 (1987); Ford v. Strickland, 734 F.2d 538, 541 n.2 (11th Cir. 1984).

In sum, all of the issues raised under this point have been previously rejected. The defendant has failed to present a valid reason for this court to reconsider its prior holdings.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument and authorities cited therein, the appellant respectfully requests this honorable court to affirm the judgment and sentence.